United Nations

GENERAL
ANSEMBLY

FIFTH SESSION
Official Records

AD HOC POLITICAL CoMMITTEE 15th

MEETING

Tuesday, 17 October 1950, at 3 p.m.

Lake Success, New York

CONTENTS

Page

Former Italian colonies (A/1374, A/AC.38/L.10, A/AC.38/L.15) : report
of the United Nations Commissioner in Libya (A/1340, A/1405) ; reports
of the administering Powers in Libya (A/1387, A/1390, A/1390/Add.1)

(continued)

................................

Chairman: Mr. Victor A. BELAUONDE (Peru).

Former Italian colonies (A/1374, A/AC.38/L.10,
A/AC.38/L.15) : report of the United Nations
Commissioner in Libya (A/1340, A/1403); re-
poris of the administering Powers in Libya
(A/1387, A/1390, A/1390/Add.1) (continued)

[Item 21 (a) and (b)]*

1. The CHAIRMAN announced that the general dis-
cussion would continue and that the joint draft resolu-
tion (A/AC.38/L.15) sponsored by thirteen delegations
following the consultations of the informal working
group, would be considered at the next meeting of the
Committee. He also reminded the Committee that only
that draft resolution and the one presented by the
Soviet Union (A/AC.38/L.10) remained before the
Commiittee.
2. He invited the representative of Greece, who had
presided at the consultations among the authors of the
draft resolutions submitted to the Committee (A/AC.38/
[..10, A/AC.38/1..12 and A/AC.38/1..13/Rev.1) to re-
port on those negotiations.
3. Mr. KYROU (Greece) recalled that as a result of
the decision taken by the Committee at its 13th
meeting, the authors of the draft resolutions which had
been submitted to the Committee had met unofficially
in the morning of 14 October, throughout 16 October
and in the morning of 17 October, in order to study
the possibility of producing a combined text. The last
meeting had been presided over by the Chairman of
the Committee, whose presence had made the conclu-
sion of the discussions much easier. The USSR delega-
tion had joined those delegations in their work at only
one meeting, that held on 14 October.

4. While the delegations of Canada, Chile, Ecuador

and Greece were not altogether satisfied with the text

elaborated in those consultations, they nevertheless
regarded the new joint draft resolution (A/AC.38/

* Indicates the item number on the General Assembly agenda.

L.15) as being in keeping with the principle that it was
preferable to submit draft resolutions acceptable to the
vast majority if not all of the members, rather than to
maintain an unbending position which precluded any
compromise.

5. The adoption of the draft resolution would enable
the Commissioner and the Chairman of the Council for
Libya to leave with precise instructions.

6. He thanked all those who had taken part in the
consultations for their co-operation. Their work could
not, of course, have reached such a satisfactory conclu-
sion without the counsel and advice of the United
Nations Commissioner, the Chairman of the Council
for Libya and the representative of Pakistan on that
Council. He also thanked the Secretariat.

7. He then pointed out that the new joint draft

(A/AC.38/L.15) was subject to certain reservations.
First, some Arab States had expressed the desire for
an express reference to the withdrawal of foreign
troops ; secondly, several of the delegations sponsoring
the joint draft resolution circulated as document A/
AC.38/L.13/Rev.1 had wished to emphasize that the
provisional government to be set up under sub-para-
graph 3 (b) of the new joint draft resolution was to be
responsible to the National Assembly; thirdly, the
delegation of Pakistan, with the support of other
delegations, had expressed the view that the draft
resolution should set forth the measures to be taken
if the National Assembly did not succeed in setting up
a provisional government within the prescribed time.
Lastly, in the opinion of the United Nations Commis-
sioner, the responsibilities of the United Nations con-
cerning technical and economic assistance to Libya
should be more precisely defined.

8 The CHAIRMAN congratulated Mr. Kyrou, who
was largely responsible for the results obtained.

9. Mr. CANAS FLORES (Chile) said the delega-
tions which had met unofficially in order to find com-

A/AC.38/SR.15



88 B General Assembly—Fifth Session—Ad Hoc Political Committee

mon ground had worked very conscientiously; nothing
had been left to chance. For the sake of securing
acceptance by a large majority in the Committee, it
had been necessary to eschew any appraisal in the draft
of the work so far accomplished in Libya by the United
Nations. There was, however, a regrettable tendency
to overlook the measures so far taken in Libya, and
secondly, to view the question from a purely political
angle. That was an entirely misconceived approach. It
was clear from the statements of the Commissioner,
the Chairman of the United Nations Council and the
representative of Pakistan on that Council that far-
reaching measures had been taken which ought to be
recognized by the General Assembly. The assertions of
the USSR and certain other delegations regarding the
political aspects of the question were really quite base-
less ; moreover, it was a pity that the USSR delegation
had not attended all the meetings of the sponsors of the
three draft resolutions.

10. The delegations of Syria and Pakistan, and others
which had taken part in those meetings, had shown a
great deal of good will. That had made it possible to
reach a compromise which would surely meet with the
approval of most of the members of the Ad Hoc Politi-
cal Committee and of the General Assembly.

11. In spite of the misgivings of some delegations
regarding the question of economic and social assistance
to Libya, it had also been possible, as a result of a
compromise, to include provisions regarding that matter
in the new draft resolution.

12. His delegation wholeheartedly supported the new
draft and hoped it would be acceptable to all the
delegations.

13. Mr. GROSS (United States of America) associ-
ated himself with the Chairman in commending the
authors of the two joint draft resolutions (A/AC.38/
L.12 and A/AC.38/L.13/Rev.1) for their efforts to
produce a combined text; he reserved his delegation’s
right to state its views on the new joint draft resolution
after the United Nations Commissioner and the Chair-
man of the United Nations Council for Libya had made
their comments. Accordingly he would confine himself
to dealing with certain general aspects of the question,
with the USSR draft resolution, which was still before
the Committee, and with the statement of the USSR
representative (9th meeting).

14. Some speakers had already shown that the USSR
draft resolution did not contain a single constructive
proposal; the only object of its first paragraph was to
impose a tightly centralized government on Libya. Any
such decision would, however, be in conflict with the
spirit as well as the letter of General Assembly resolu-
tion 289 (IV). In adopting that resolution the General
Assembly had deliberately refrained from deciding
upon the form which the government of the new State
should take, regarding that as something to be settled
by the Libyans themselves. The United Nations Com-
missioner had scrupulously respected the General As-
sembly’s decision. The second paragraph of the USSR
draft resolution was a warmed-over version of an old
and discredited story, and an attempt to confuse the
Committee by introducing extraneous matters into the
debate. That proposal therefore should be rejected
again, as it had been dt the fourth session of the Gen-

eral Assembly.! His delegation was quite satisfied that
the administering Powers in Libya had no aggressive
aims.

15. In reply to the USSR representative’s allegations
that the United States sought to utilize Libya for ag-
gressive purposes, he would merely say that actions
speak louder than words. The United States was con-
tent to stand on its record of dealing with other
peoples. It was strange to hear the Soviet Union
representative speak of attempted domination or “en-
slavement” of the people of Libya by others, when
everyone knew that the Soviet Union had swallowed
up the liberties of a number of countries.

16. He entirely agreed with the representatives of
Bolivia, Brazil (11th meeting) and Chile, tha.t the
statements by the representative of the USSR did not
contain any constructive ideas and showed no spirit
of co-operation. There was nothing to show that the
USSR was prepared to co-operate with other coun-
tries in giving Libya all the assistance, and particularly
the economic and social assistance, which it needed. As
a matter of fact, the USSR had refused to take part in
the work of the specialized agencies to which Libya
would have to appeal. If the USSR had really been
interested in the welfare of Libya, it would not have
adopted such an attitude.

17. If the new State were to be built on firm founda-
tions, all the Members of the United Nations would
have to give it not only their political, but also their
financial, economic and social support. It was certainly
necessary to accelerate the training of the necessary
technica] personnel; but, even after that personnel had
been trained, Libya would still have to receive a con-
siderable amount of assistance from outside.

18. Because of its own history, the United States was

able to understand the problems facing the people of

Libya. Moreover, since the struggle it had had to wage
for its own independence, the United States had always
taken an interest in the efforts of other peoples to obtain
their freedom and independence. The only desire of
the United States was for a stable government in Libya
which respected the rights and fundamental freedoms
of the people and was free of all external influence. The
presence of such a State in that part of the world would
be a stabilizing factor.

19. Inanswer to a question by Mr. RIVAS (Mexico)
concerning the provisional Spanish translation of the
draft resolution, Mr. KYROU (Greece) said that
1 April 1951 had been set by the authors of the draft
as the target date for the constitution of a provisional
government after consultation with the United Nations
Commissioner.

20. Mr. GOLDSTUCKER (Czechoslovakia) said
the question of Libya was of two-fold importance. On
the one hand, it concerned the granting of indepen-
dence to an oppressed and exploited people, in itself
a most important object; and on the other hand, it was
the first time the United Nations had been entrusted
with so important a task. The manner in which the
Organization performed that task would determine the
extent to which it enjoyed the confidence of the peoples
throughout the world who were struggling for libera-

.—_;-See Ofiicial Records of the General Assembly, Fourth Ses-
sion, First Commitiee, 318th meeting,






20 General Assembly—Fifth Session—Ad Hoc Political Committee

established in Libya as a result of the unilateral de-
cision of the occupying Powers, and the United King-
dom had even gone so far as to authorize the United
States to establish its own bases in the country. Clearly,
those Powers did not want that question to be closely
scrutinized by the General Assembly, but it was never-
theless true that the presence of such bases on Libyan
territory prevented the achievement of real indepen-
dence. That was why it was that those military bases
should be dismantled forthwith, '

29. For all those reasons, the Czechoslovak delega-
tion would support the USSR draft resolution
(A/AC.38/L.10).

30. He agreed with the representative of Bolivia that
the United Nations was indeed acting in the name of
the United Nations Charter in Libya, but the principles
of the Charter should not be used to justify the artificial
division of Libya, the presence of foreign military
forces and the existence of military bases set up for
aggressive purposes. In fact, the Charter should not
be invoked in order to trample upon its principles.

31. Mr. COUVE DE MURVILLE (France) said he
wished to reply to the comments which related to
France’s action in Libya, and more particularly in the
Fezzan. He would also reply in detail to the allegations
made by the delegation of the USSR. With regard to
the proposals made by other delegations, he hoped that
he would have an opportunity of explaining his vote
in due course.

32. With reference to a criticism by the USSR rep-
resentative (9th meeting) of debates that had taken
place in the Conseil de la République some months
before, he recalled that the debates of parliamentary
assemblies in France were dominated by the principle
of freedom of thought and of freedom of expression.
The question of Libya and the Fezzan was an impor-
tant one for France, both because of France’s respon-
sibilities in those regions and because of their prox-
imity to territories administered by France. It was not
surprising, therefore, that the Conseil de la République
had concerned itself with the problem and that mem-
bers had received unfavourably the solution recom-
mended by the General Assembly. In that connexion,
he recalled that his delegation had given its views un-
equivocally at the fourth session and that he had him-
self explained in a plenary meeting the reason why the
French delegation had been unable to vote for the
draft resolution.® It was quite proper for the French
Parliament to share the views of the French Govern-
ment, and it could not be criticized for expressing its
opinions freely.

33. He also recalled his statement at the fourth ses-
sion when he had said that, in accordance with the
obligations undertaken under the Peace Treaty with
Italy, France would accept the General Assembly’s
recommendation and would do everything in its power
to give it effect. France would maintain its loyal atti-
tude to the United Nations, and that should reassure
the representative of Iraq.

34. Several delegations had spoken of a policy of the
partition of Libya. The USSR delegation, in particular,
had accused France of setting up a puppet government

¢ Ibid., Plenary Meetings, 249th meeting.

in the Fezzan. The only French experience of a puppet
government went back to the dark days of Nazi occu-
pation. The question of the Fezzan was quite different,
since that region was at peace and under the super-
vision of the United Nations. Conditions there were
known to all and had been described in detailed reports
to the General Assembly. Those circumstances were
highly unfavourable for the establishment of a puppet
government. In actual fact, the governmental agthorl-
ties of the Fezzan had been set up with the assistance
and agreement of the population.

35. The representatives of Tripolitania and Cyrenaica
had never questioned the legitimacy of those govern-
mental authorities. It had been alleged that the estab-
lishment of separate governments for the three terri-
tories of Libya represented a manceuvre to sabotage the
unification of that country. It was strange to hear such
an assertion from the ~representative of a federal
State, comprising different countries each with its own
government, some of which were even represented in
the United Nations. Figures had been quoted in sup-
port of those arguments, but, statistically speaking, a
similar position existed in a certain number of federal
States, such as the USSR, the United States and
Germany, where constituent parts of very different sizes
were represented in the assemblies.

36. A certain delegation had also felt obliged to recall
that Libya had been united under the Ottoman and
Italian regimes. Yet it was a fact that as soon as the
populations concerned had been given an opportunity
to express their wishes, they had voted almost unani-
mously for the re-establishment of the regional entities
dictated by historical, geographical and economic cir-
cumstances, and even by common sense. Moreover, the
Government of the USSR itself had proposed Soviet
Union trusteeship over Tripolitania, a solution that
would hardly have led to the unification of Libya. The
only objective criticism that could be made was the
absence of a government in Tripolitania. That position
was incomprehensible since that region was the most
highly developed part of Libya. He wished to point out
to the United Nations Commissioner. that party rivalry
in Tripolitania was creating a situation which was
against the interests of the population. It was essential
to establish in Tripolitania representative institutions
based on popular election, and not on the choice of
certain political parties. : '

37. He wished to point out that France shared some
of the responsibility for the proposal of the Committee
of Twenty-One and the proposals concerning the
Libyan National Assembly. In establishing that Com-
mittee, the Commissioner had implemented literally a
recommendation proposed by the representative of
Pakistan and adopted by the Council for Libya by
six votes in favour, with France, the United States and
the United Kingdom abstaining; the representative of
the Fezzan had been absent. Pakistan now seemed to
have reversed its decision. When the Committee of
Twenty-One had agreed on the principles which were
to serve as a basis for the establishment of the National
Assembly, all the decisions had been taken unani-
mously. The representatives of the Fezzan had yielded
to the wishes of the two other delegations with regard
to the appointment of delegates to the National As-
sembly. The French Government had not interfered in
any way.



15th Meeting—17 Oectober 1950 91

38. He proceeded to give particulars in regard to the
situation of the parts of the Fezzan which were ad-
ministratively linked to Algeria and Tunisia. The
Ghadames region participated fully in the political life
of the Fezzan and of Libya. It had sent three delega-
tions to the Assembly which had elected the Chief of
the Territory of the Fezzan and its caid was a member
of the Committee of Twenty-One. The position was
different in the territory of Ghat-Serdeles, which was
inhabited not by Arabs or Berbers, but by Tuaregs of
the Saharan region, who had refused to take part in the
election of the Chief of the Territory; the United Na-
tions Commissioner had been informed in good time
and that state of affairs was to be considered in due
course.

39. He then referred to the question of military forces
and bases. In the Fezzan, the French forces responsible
for the security of the territory did not exceed 500
men, and that in the case of a territory half as large
again as France. If strategical questions arose from
time to time, the reason for that was to be sought in
the general insecurity of the world, for which the
Western democracies could not be held responsible.

40. Referring to the draft resolutions before the Ad
Hoc Political Committee, he said he would vote against
the USSR draft resolution (A/AC.38/L.10) for the
reasons stated. His delegation reserved the right to
explain its vote on the new joint draft resolution
(A/AC.38/L.15); he wished to point out at once,
however, that in the operative part of the draft resolu-
tion, a distinction should be drawn between provisions
which restated the General Assembly resolution and the
new provisions which tended to modify it.

41. Mr. ARUTIUNIAN (Union of Soviet Socialist
Republics) asked the Chairman to give him.the right
of reply provided for in rule 114 of the rules of
procedure.

42. The CHAIRMAN assured the USSR represen-
tative that he would have an opportunity to exercise
his right.

43. Mr. NISOT (Belgium) pointed out that the
word “united” in the first paragraph of the preamble
of the English text of the joint draft resolution
(A/AC.38/L.15) had not been translated in the
French text.

44. Mr. KYROU (Greece) said he had also noted
the omission, but pointed out that the French text
was headed “provisional translation”; the final text
had not yet been issued. He also suggested that the
first operative paragraph should be corrected by re-
placing the words “le représentant du Conseil” by the
words “les membres du Conseil”. He also thought that
the French text of the third paragraph of the preamble
should be amended ; the phrase “serait atteint dans les
délais impartis si les Puissances administrantes colla-
borent plus étroitement” etc. implied a sort of criticism
of the administering Powers. He thought it would be
preferable to say “atteint dans les délais impartis moy-
ennant collaboration des Puissances odministrantes,”
etc.; in that case, also, it would be advisable to wait for
the final text. ‘

45, Sir Gladwyn JEBB (United Kingdom), speaking
on a point of order, said the first paragraph referred

back to General Assembly resolution 289 (IV). in
which there was no mention of a “united” State., Hence
there was no reason for introducing the term into the
joint draft resolution.

46. Mr. KYROU (Greece) noted that certain spon-
sors of the draft had insisted on inserting the word
“united” into the English text.

47. SELIM Bey (Chairman of the United Nations
Council for Libya) pointed out that in sub-paragraph
10 () of resolution 289 (IV) Libyan unity and inde-
pendence were expressly mentioned. The introduction
of the idea of unity into the first paragraph of the
joint draft resolution, accordingly added no new
element,

~ 48. Sir Keith OFFICER (Australia) thought it

would be best to refer simply to independence and
sovereignty.

49. Mr. DEJEAN (Haiti) said for the moment the
draft resolution was not being discussed; the Com-
mittee was still at the stage of a general discussion.

50. The CHAIRMAN agreed with the representative
of Haiti and said that discussions of the wording of
the draft resolution should be postponed.

51. Mr. BARISIC (Yugoslavia) recalled that at the
fourth session his delegation had supported resolution
289 (IV) with the majority. The joint draft resolution
submitted as document A/AC.38/L.15 came closest
to the intention expressed by the General Assembly in
1949. It was, moreover, constructive and precisely
drafted. His delegation would accordingly vote in fa-
vour of the draft. It would, on the other hand, vote
against the Soviet Union draft resolution (A/AC.38/
L..10), which was merely a repetition of the Soviet
Union resolution of 1949 and appeared to be intended
solely for propaganda purposes without attempting to
solve the Libyan problem.

52. Mr. ARUTIUNIAN (Union of Soviet Socialist
Republics) wished to reply to certain remarks made
by the representative of the United States. Slander
could not constitute a convincing argument. Further-
more, the 4Ad Hoc Political Committee was not the
proper place for making speeches of the kind made by
the representative of the United States. The Committee
was dealing with a definite problem, namely, the
Libyan question; it was not engaged in a comparative
study of the respective merits of the governmental
systems of the USSR and the United States. A discus-
sion of that topic was not likely to be at all helpful in
the quest for a solution to the question actually being
dealt with by the Committee. His delegation would not
resort to the methods of the representative of the
United States, who had not wished to deal with the
question of a united Libya or with that of withdrawing
troops and dismantling military bases.

53. The object of the United States representative’s
remarks had been to distract the Committee’s atten--
tion from the unfavourable criticisms of many dele-
gations concerning the policy followed in Libya by the
administering Powers. It had become quite apparent
that those Powers had been attempting to encourage
separatist tendencies and to set up puppet governments
which would obey their orders in each of the territories
administered by them, in order to perpetuate the con-



92 General Assembly—Fifth Session—Ad Hoc Political Cemmittee

trol they exercised in Libya. Many delegations had
believed that that was the first question to be dealt
with, and that the existing state of affairs should be
remedied.

54. It was false to say that the USSR wished to see
a centralized government imposed on Libya. The only
desire of the USSR delegation in the particular in-
stance was to ensure effective implementation of Gen-
eral Assembly resolution 289 (IV) which expressly
provided for the establishment of Libya as an inde-
pendent and sovereign State. The United Kingdom
representative’s objections to the word “united” in the
new joint draft resolution were a clear reflection of the
separatist tendencies of the administering Powers. The
United States representative had said nothing about
those tendencies or about the criticisms to which they
had given rise. That was not surprising because the
United States, in collaboration with the administering

Powers, was attempting to maintain its influence in
Libya.

55. The United States representative had denied that
his government wanted to use the military bases in
Libya for purposes of aggression, but the importance
of those bases to the United States and the place which
they occupied in that country’s policy were evident
from newspaper clippings quoted by Mr. Arutiunian.
The quotations had been taken from Netherlands and
Egyptian newspapers, and the Netherlands and Egypt
could hardly be suspected of being communist.

56. Despite the slander that had been directed at the
USSR delegation, its opposition would not have been
in vain. The criticisms expressed by it and by many
other delegations had contributed a constructive element
to the debate, a fact reflected in the new joint draft
resolution presented to the Committee. Between that
text and that originally submitted by Canada, Chile,
Ecuador and Greece (A/AC.38/L.12) there were con-
siderable differences. The original proposal had recom-
mended the administering Powers to continue in Libya
the policy hitherto applied by them, but that recommen-
dation had been dropped from the new draft. Moreover,
the idea of a united Libya emphasized in the draft
resolution presented by Saudi Arabia, Egypt, Indonesia,
Iraq, Lebanon, Pakistan, Syria and Yemen (A/AC.38/
L.13) was more forcefully expressed in the new text.
That provision in the new draft constituted a realization
of the force of the contention of the USSR and other
delegations that the separatist policy of the administer-
ing Powers was one of the principal obstacles to the
unification of Libya.

57. No doubt fresh attempts would be made to weaken
the resolution to be finally adopted by the Committee
and to exclude the idea of the unification of Libya.
Even last year, Mr. McNeill, the United Kingdom
representative, had succeeded through a last-minute in-
tervention in securing the omission of the word
“united” from the text of the resolution adopted by
the General Assembly. Mr. Arutiunian hoped that the
Committee would not again allow itself to be fooled
by a manceuvre ‘of that kind. He was furthermore con-
vinced that the Libyan people would be able to attain
their desired ends and that a sovereign, independent
and united Libya could be established in spite of the

attempts of the administering Powers to divide the
country.

58. Mr. Arutiunian said he had not been able to
follow the speech of the French representative and had
not been in a position to reply to any remarks which
that representative might have made. He would refer
to the records of the meeting in order to do so if
necessary,

59. Mr. MASCIA (Representative of Italy) recalled
that the United Nations Commissioner in Libya had
pointed out that the Preparatory Committee of Twenty-
One had decided at a recent meeting that non-national
minorities should not be represented in the Libyan con-
stituent National Assembly. Mr, Mascia said he would
be very grateful if the United Nations Commissioner
would " kindly clarify the definition ‘“non-national
minorities” and also indicate the political consequences
which application of the decision of the Committee of
Twenty-One might entail.

60. General Assembly resolution 289 (IV) had estab-
lished that the “inhabitants” of Libya would take part
in the formation of the State and of the Libyan govern-
ment. It had given the minorities the right to be repre-
sented on the Council for Libya through the procedure
described in sub-paragraph 6 (b) of the resolution. At
the invitation of the Council for Libya, a representative
of the minorities had participated in the Preparatory
Committee of Twenty-One. If the recent decision of the
Committee of Twenty-One were carried out, it would
constitute a violation of the spirit and letter of the
General Assembly resolution. Furthermore, to deprwq
a part of the inhabitants of Libya, nq.mely, those of
Italian, Jewish, Greek or Maltese origin, of the right
to participate in the formation of the new State, would
be a discriminatory measure in conflict with the Gen-
eral Assembly resolution and the spirit of the Charter.

61. The Chairman of the Council for Libya hfid most
impartially outlined the problem of the minorities. The
minorities had participated in the life and development
of Libya and were strongly attached to the country.
The discriminatory measure which it was proposed to
apply to them was unjust and undeserved. Moreover,
as there was no Libyan constitution, there was no
Libyan nationality and no Libyan nationality law, a
circumstance which further added to the hardships of
the minorities.

62. In conclusion, Mr. Mascia said the Italian Gov-
ernment wished only to protect the rights of a large
part of the Libyan population, of a peaceful and indus-
trious minority which had always lived in friendly and
harmonious relations with the Arab population.

63. Mr. PELT (United Nations Commissioner in
Libya) asked in his own name and in that of the Chair-
man of the Council for Libya for sufficient time to
prepare replies to the questions put during the debate,
particularly since very important speeches had been
made in the course of the meeting, which required
study. For these reasons, Mr. Pelt and the Chairman of
the Council for Libya preferred not to address the
Committee until the following meeting.

It was decided to grant that request.
The meeting rose at 5.10 p.m.

Printed in U.S.A.

A—40269—October 1950—3 409





